

#### BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

#### **MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE**

#### MONDAY 12TH NOVEMBER 2018 AT 6.00 P.M.

#### PARKSIDE SUITE, PARKSIDE, MARKET STREET, BROMSGROVE, WORCESTERSHIRE, B61 8DA

#### MEMBERS: Councillors R. L. Dent (Chairman), C. J. Spencer (Vice-Chairman), M. T. Buxton, M. Glass, H. J. Jones, C. M. McDonald, S. R. Peters, S. P. Shannon, M. A. Sherrey, L. J. Turner and S. A. Webb

## AGENDA

- 1. To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes
- 2. Declarations of Interest

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of those interests.

- 3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 11th September 2018 (Pages 1 - 6)
- 4. Licensing Act 2003 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy (Pages 7 62)
- 5. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme review of the scheme (Pages 63 70)
- 6. Verbal Update Implementation of Animal Activity Licensing Regulations

- 7. Licensing Committee Work Programme 2018/2019 (Pages 71 72)
- 8. To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting

K. DICKS Chief Executive

Parkside Market Street BROMSGROVE Worcestershire B61 8DA

25th October 2018



## INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

## Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

- You can attend all Council, Cabinet and Committee/Board meetings, except for any part of the meeting when the business would disclose confidential or "exempt" information.
- You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before the date of the meeting.
- You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.
- You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.
- An electronic register stating the names and addresses and electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of all Committees etc. is available on our website.
- A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to items to be considered in public will be made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards.
- You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers concerned, as detailed in the Council's Constitution, Scheme of Delegation.

You can access the following documents:

- Meeting Agendas
- Meeting Minutes
- The Council's Constitution

at <u>www.bromsgrove.gov.uk</u>

This page is intentionally left blank

Licensing Committee 11th September 2018

## BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

#### MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

#### TUESDAY, 11TH SEPTEMBER 2018, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors R. L. Dent (Chairman), C. J. Spencer (Vice-Chairman),
M. T. Buxton (During Minute No's 13/18 to 15/18), R. J. Deeming,
H. J. Jones, C. M. McDonald, S. R. Peters, S. P. Shannon, L. J. Turner and S. A. Webb

Officers: Mrs. V. Brown, Ms. S. Garratt, Mr. D. Etheridge and Mrs. P. Ross

#### 10/18 APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M. Glass and M. A. Sherrey.

The Committee were informed that Councillor R. J. Deeming was in attendance as the substitute Member for Councillor M. A. Sherrey.

#### 11/18 **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 12/18 **MINUTES**

The minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 11th June 2018 were submitted.

**<u>RESOLVED</u>** that, the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 11th June 2018 be approved.

#### 13/18 ANIMAL ESTABLISHMENT LICENSING REFORMS

Following on from the Licensing Committee held on 11th June 2018; whereby Members received a briefing report on the upcoming reforms to the licensing of animal related establishments as a result of the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018.

The Committee was asked to consider a further report seeking approval for changes that would be required in order to implement the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)(England) Regulations 2018. Namely, changes to the Worcestershire Shared Services

Licensing Committee 11th September 2018

Agreement dated 1st April 2016 to reflect the legislative changes, and to set the fees under the new regime for licensing of animal activities.

The Licensing and Support Services Manager, Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS) introduced the report and in doing so informed Members that the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 was scheduled to come into force on 1st October 2018. These regulations were made under the Animal Welfare Act 2006 and would replace the licensing regime and legislation currently in place.

Members were further informed that under the regulations the existing licensing scheme for animal boarding establishments, pet shops, riding establishments and dog breeders would be repealed and replaced by a new single licensing scheme that would regulate all of these activities and would also incorporate the licensing of those who train or exhibit performing animals.

Each application would have to have an inspection visit prior to the issue of a licence.

In order for these changes to be facilitated and implemented, all six Worcestershire District Councils would need to agree that the items listed at section 2 of the report were incorporated into the Worcestershire Shared Services Agreement and Statement of Partnership Requirements.

It was noted that the new regulations would come into force on 1st October 2018. The Licensing and Support Services Manager explained that officers had only received the guidance that supported the regulations, as issued by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), in mid-August.

Paragraph 3.12 in the report detailed the main differences in the new licensing scheme.

All current licence holders had been contacted in writing. Officers were also reviewing what additional activities might now be subject to a licence where one would not have been required previously.

Members were advised that the new regulations were very prescriptive in how matters should be conducted both in the granting and refusal of a licence and due to this very prescriptive nature of the regulations the Licensing authority was under strict limitations in respect of how it dealt with each application; lending the new regime to a much more administrative approach to animal licensing than the previous one. The new regime would be more rigorous, require a greater number of inspections and more administration work to support, therefore WRS had decided that an extra officer would need to be employed to cover the additional workload.

Licensing Committee 11th September 2018

The proposed fees and charges, as detailed at Appendix 1 to the report, had been calculated on a full costs recovery basis and were approximately a 39% increase. This would be reviewed in 2019/2020. The proposed fees and charges did represent a significant increase but this was due to the extra work that would have to be undertaken and the cost of engaging an additional officer.

The Licensing and Support Services Manager, WRS, explained that individual guidance had been issued for each licensable activity and there would be three levels of conditions for applicants to comply with; standard conditions, higher conditions and extra higher conditions. This would be linked to a star rating system and to a risk rating. The level of risk would determine the number of inspections required each year for any business holding a licence, with most businesses receiving at least two inspections a year. Business owners would be required to display their star rating to the public.

There would be a lead in period after 1st October 2018 with businesses having to move over to the new system as and when their existing licences expired.

In response to questions from Members the Licensing and Support Services Manager, WRS stated that each business would be charged a single application fee and then licence fees would be added depending on the activities carried out by the business. For performing animals a three year licence would be issued as there was no risk assessment. However, officers would still go out and inspect any such establishments if any concerns were raised via intelligence. Travelling circuses were exempt from the legislation.

#### **RECOMMENDED**:

- a) that determination of all licensing applications in respect of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 be removed from para 3, Schedule 2, Part II (Matters not Delegated) of the Worcestershire Shared Services Agreement dated 1st April 2016;
- b) that the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 be added to Schedule 1 Appendix, Part II of the Worcestershire Shared Services Agreement dated 1st April 2016;
- c) that the following wording be added to Part II "Animal Health and Welfare" section of Appendix 1- Statement of Partner Service Requirements to Worcestershire Shared Services Agreement dated 1st April 2016; and
- d) that the proposed fees and charges, as detailed at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved.

#### 14/18 GAMBLING ACT 2005 - REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES

Following on from the Licensing Committee meeting held on 12th March 2018, whereby Members approved the draft revised Statement of

#### Licensing Committee 11th September 2018

Principles for the purpose of consultation. Members were asked to consider the responses received to the consultation and the changes incorporated into the revised draft Statement of Principles as a result of those responses.

The Senior Licensing Practitioner, Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS), presented the report and in doing so informed Members that the consultation exercise was carried out from 3rd May until 27th July 2018.

During the consultation period three substantive responses were received as follows; the Public Health Team at Worcestershire County Council, Dodford Parish Council and from a consultant that worked for a gambling premises operator who had premises in the licensing authority's area.

The Public Health Team had requested some minor changes to the wording contained in the part of the Statement of Principles relating to Public Health and Gambling; in order to provide a firmer commitment to engagement with them in this area. The changes requested had been incorporated into the draft revised Statement of Principles, as detailed at Appendix 2 to the report.

Dodford Parish Council had recommended that restrictions were placed on the number of betting shops in Bromsgrove High Street as this could be ruining the character of the town. Members were informed that it was not possible to impose such restrictions under the Gambling Act 2005 and that every application had to be determined on its own merits.

The response for the consultant, as detailed at Appendix 1 to the report, raised two points. In response to the first point raised, the revised Statement of Principles was amended to clarify that when an applicant for an unlicensed family entertainment centre was a limited company, a Basic Disclosure certificate would need to be supplied in respect of each director of the company concerned

In response to the second point raised, officers did not believe that the wording in section 10 of the draft revised Statement of Principles implied any gambling premises were inappropriate in town centres. This section simply set out some of the matters that the licensing authority would expect gambling operators to consider when carrying out their own local risk assessments.

In response to questions from Members, the Senior Licensing Practitioner, WRS, informed the Committee that there were five licensed betting premises within the district, three on the High Street, one on Worcester Road and one in Rubery. Shipley Amusement Centre located on the High Street, was an adult gaming centre and not a betting premises.

Licensing Committee 11th September 2018

#### **RECOMMENDED**:

- (a) that Council approve the revised Statement of Principles, as detailed at Appendix 2 to the report, and
- (b) that the Statement of Principles be published by 31st January 2019.

#### 15/18 LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee considered the Work Programme for 2018/19.

**<u>RESOLVED</u>** that the Licensing Committee Work Programme for 2018/2019 be noted.

The meeting closed at 6.22 p.m.

<u>Chairman</u>

This page is intentionally left blank

12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

#### LICENSING ACT 2003 – REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

Councillor P J Whittaker
Yes
Simon Wilkes – Head of
Worcestershire Regulatory Services
All Wards
N/A

#### 1. <u>SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS</u>

The Council's current Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 took effect on the 1<sup>st</sup> April 2014. In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Council is required to determine and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy at least every five years. Therefore a new Statement of Licensing Policy must be published by 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019.

The Licensing Committee have previously approved a draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy for the purpose of consultation with relevant parties and the results of that consultation exercise are now being reported back to Members.

#### 2. <u>RECOMMENDATIONS</u>

Members are asked to RESOLVE;

To recommend to Council that the revised Statement of Licensing Policy shown at Appendix 2 be approved and published to take effect on 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019.

#### 3. KEY ISSUES

#### Financial Implications

3.1 The costs involved in carrying out the consultation were met from existing budgets held by Worcestershire Regulatory Services.

## 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

Agenda Item 4

#### Legal Implications

- 3.2 The Council has a statutory duty to have a Statement of Licensing Policy. It is important that the Statement of Licensing Policy provides an open and transparent policy regarding the Council's functions under the Licensing Act 2003. The Statement of Licensing Policy forms an essential part of the decision making process for licensing applications.
- 3.3 The Act also requires that the Statement of Licensing Policy should be kept under review and must be re-published at least every five years.
- 3.4 When revising its Statement of Licensing Policy, the Council is required to consult with:-
  - the chief officer of police for the authority's area;
  - the fire and rescue authority for that area;
  - each local authority in England whose public health functions within the meaning of the National Health Service Act 2006 are exercisable in respect of an area any part of which is in the licensing authority's area;
  - such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of holders of premises licences issued by that authority;
  - such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of holders of club premises certificates issued by that authority;
  - such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of holders of personal licences issued by that authority; and
  - such other persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of businesses and residents in its area.

#### Service / Operational Implications

- 3.5 Bromsgrove District Council's existing Statement of Licensing Policy was published with effect from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2014.
- 3.6 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires licensing authorities to review Statements of Licensing Policy every five years, and therefore a reviewed Statement of Licensing Policy must be approved by Council and published before 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019.
- 3.7 On 11<sup>th</sup> June 2018, the Licensing Committee approved a draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy for the purpose of consultation with relevant parties.

#### 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

Agenda Item 4

- 3.8 The draft revised policy remains based on the same template as the existing policy, which all of the Statements of Licensing Policy across Worcestershire are now based upon.
- 3.9 The revised policy contained a number of amendments and additional sections that have been made to the document to reflect changes to legislation and guidance that have taken effect since the last Statement of Licensing Policy took effect on 1<sup>st</sup> April 2014.
- 3.10 The changes that have been made were shown by way of "track changes" within the document and the more significant changes that have been made are also summarised below.
- 3.11 A new section has been included to explain the implications of the Immigration Act 2006 on the exercise of the Council's functions under the Licensing Act 2003.
- 3.12 New sections have been included providing information on how the Council will deal with applications for personal licences and how it will deal with situations where it is considering suspending or revoking personal licences. The power to suspend or revoke personal licences was given to licensing authorities as a result of provisions within the Policing and Crime Act 2017.
- 3.13 The section explaining the Live Music Act 2012 and other entertainment licensing deregulation has been updated to reflect further deregulatory measures that have taken effect since the last Statement of Licensing Policy was published.
- 3.14 The section regarding cumulative impact has been rewritten to reflect changes that have been made to licensing authorities powers to adopt special policies on cumulative impact as a result of the provisions of the Policing and Crime Act 2017.
- 3.15 A new section has also been included providing information in relation to the local powers to deregulate the licensing of late night refreshment providers that were introduced under the Deregulation Act 2015.
- 3.16 Consultation on the revised draft Statement of Principles took place with all relevant parties including:
  - The Chief Officer of West Mercia Police
  - Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service
  - Worcestershire County Council (Public Health)
  - All other responsible authorities identified under the Act
  - Relevant Trade Associations
  - Relevant Interest Groups, Charities and Associations
  - Parish Councils

Agenda Item 4

- 3.17 The consultation was also be made available for comment via the Council's website and publicised via social media and also through the local press. The consultation exercise commenced on 6<sup>th</sup> July 2018 and concluded on 12<sup>th</sup> October 2018.
- 3.18 A total of five responses were received during the consultation. These responses came from:
  - Public Health (Worcestershire County Council)
  - The Musicians Union
  - Alvechurch Parish Council
  - Wythall Parish Council
  - Dodford and Grafton Parish Council
- 3.19 The Director of Public Health has requested that a section be added to the statement of licensing policy in all districts recognising the contribution of public health to the licensing process. Such a section has been added into the draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy between paragraphs 7.21 and 7.23.
- 3.20 The response from the representative of the Musician's Union (MU) raised a number of comments and can be seen at **Appendix 1**.
- 3.21 In response to the first comment raised by the MU, paragraph 6.14 has been reworded to reduce the risk of it being misunderstood.
- 3.22 In response to the second comment from the MU, "music wind-down policies" are policies that some venues implement to reduce the volume and tempo of music playing at the premises in the run up to the premises closing in the hope that this will have a calming effect on the patrons meaning that when they leave the premises, they do so in a more quiet and orderly fashion.
- 3.23 In response to the third comment made by the MU, paragraph 6.23 has been amended so as to encourage all applicants for premises licences to seek the advice of the Fire and Rescue Service on safe occupancy levels, regardless of the licensable activities to be provided.
- 3.24 In response to the next comment from the MU, a new paragraph has been inserted (at 6.29) to highlight the fact that the Music Venue Trust charity can provide advice to music venues.

#### 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

Agenda Item 4

- 3.25 In response to the next comment from the MU, it is recognised that chapter 22 of the Statement of Licensing Policy is somewhat wordy, but this reflects the piecemeal way in which the Government has set about deregulating entertainment licensing in the past six years and is difficult to avoid. The chapter needs to explain all the deregulatory measures made in relation to entertainment licensing, not just those enacted by the Live Music Act 2012 (as amended).
- 3.26 Paragraph 22.1 has however been amended to reflect the increased capacity figure following the amendment of the Live Music Act 2012 made by the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014.
- 3.27 Paragraph 22.3 of the policy has also been deleted as it is accepted that since the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014, there is no distinction between the deregulation of live and recorded music and the paragraph is therefore no longer necessary.
- 3.28 Both Alvechurch Parish Council and Wythall Parish Council responded to the consultation to confirm that they have no comments to make on the draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy.
- 3.29 Dodford and Grafton Parish Council responded to the consultation to say that they felt paragraph 21.4 was too vague and that a specific number should be provided. As a result, the draft revised Statement of Principles has been amended and a new paragraph inserted (at 21.5) to make clear the restrictions placed on the serving of "late" temporary event notices by personal licence holders and others.
- 3.30 Members are asked to consider the responses received during the consultation and resolve to recommend to Council that the revised Statement of Licensing Policy at **Appendix 2** be approved and published to take effect on 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019.

#### 4. RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Failing to prepare and publish a new Statement of Licensing Policy before 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019 would leave the Council in a position where it was failing to comply with its duties as a licensing authority under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003.

#### 5. <u>APPENDICES</u>

Appendix 1 – Response from The Musician's Union

Appendix 2 – Draft Revised Statement of Licensing Policy

## 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

#### AUTHOR OF REPORT

Name:	Dave Etheridge – Senior Practitioner (Licensing) Worcestershire Regulatory Services
E Mail:	dave.etheridge@worcsregservices.gov.uk
Tel:	(01905) 822799

From: Stephen Brown
Sent: 17 July 2018 15:39
To: WRS Enquiries
Subject: FW: Have your say on Bromsgrove District Council's Statement of Licensing Policy

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Dave Etheridge,

Thank you very much for your contact regarding your licensing policy review (as attached).

## I have the following comments:

6.14 In addition when planning and preparing operating schedules applicants are advised to take into account local planning and transport policies, tourism, cultural and crime and disorder reduction strategies as appropriate. **COMMENT:** 

This clause would surely be better worded as follows because it reads to me like you take into account 'cultural reduction' strategies??: "In addition, when planning and preparing operating schedules applicants are advised to take into account local planning and transport policies,

tourism and cultural policies, as well as crime and disorder reduction strategies as appropriate."

I'd be interested to see how your cultural policy given it is reflected in this document, is inter-related in terms of licence approval?

I attach a copy of the TUC Cultural manifesto the MU has helped draft. I'd be happy to discuss this cultural manifesto with you and how the council may incorporate any of its recommendations.

6.17 v) any other measure as may be appropriate (e.g. participation in local Pubwatch and/or Shopwatch schemes or 'Behave or be Banned' schemes (BOBS), restrictions on 'happy hours', music wind-down policies); **COMMENT:** 

What does "music wind-down polices" actually mean in reference to the Live Music Act as there is no such reference in the Act so far as I am aware? If this is specific to clubs playing recorded music after 11pm it should specify as such.

6.23 The licensing authority encourages applicants for premises licences that provide regulated entertainment (or any other premises providing a licensable activity where occupant capacity may be a public safety issue) to seek advice regarding

safe occupancy levels from the Fire Safety Section of Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service.

## COMMENT:

The MU welcomes appropriate safe occupancy levels but there is a danger here that you could seem to favour only regulated entertainemnt versus the provuisions of the Live Music Act 2012 and this could be seen to be culturally restrictive. Maybe there should be a link here to LMA 2012 or a qualification that you are not seeking to restrict activities only to regulated types?

6.28 In particular the licensing authority will consider the action that is appropriate for the premises that the applicant has taken or is proposing with regard to the following:

i) prevention of noise and vibration escaping from the premises, including music, noise from ventilation equipment, and human voices. Such measures may include the installation of ......

## COMMENT:

I note 'music'comes top of your list here, it could be seen to impose potetntial uneccesary restrictions on provisions in the LMA 2012 based on the subjective opinions of those making a decision on licensed premises. What is the objetcive criteria and where is it referenced as I note clause 8.3 could be relevant too and how do you facilitate the upcoming "Agent Of Change" principles <u>https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2017-</u> <u>19/planningagentofchange.html</u>

Are you aware of the "Music Venue Trust" that can offer advice to venues? See: <u>http://musicvenuetrust.com/</u>

6.34 Question – as it references under-age persons in licensed premises. What provision does the Authority make for under-age performers in such premises and does it apply any performing restrictions notwithstanding clause 6.38 & 6.42 & 7.13? For example: Open mic-nights can be a popular route to a performing career for under-age performers especially 16 and above, sometimes younger. There is no age restriction on Musicians' Union membership and this performing question is often raised with us.

# 22 Live Music Act clauses et al **COMMENT:**

This whole section with red amendments seems somewhat unwieldy and wordy and could be more precise. The MU suggests you stick to the main requirements of the Live Music Act 2012 (as amended) Eg see here: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/entertainment-licensing-changes-under-the-</u> <u>live-music-act</u>

Note 22.1 is now 500 people not 200.

In terms of 22.3 it would be helpful to know how you assess whether a performance is live or not, in the view of the MU this is NOT a subjective manner and we do not understand this reference. Further, the LMA 2012 makes no distinction on requirments between live and recorded music in terms of what a venue can do within the normal hours contained within the Act; and provided appropriate PPL & PRS licences are in place, we see no issue. If you are referring to activities not of music, please be specific about that and what you mean for the avoidance of doubt?

I'd be happy to meet and discuss any aspects of this response.

Kind Regards, Stephen Brown Musicians' Union Midlands Regional Organiser

email: Office: Mobile:

2 Sovereign Court Graham Street Birmingham B1 3JR



Any opinions expressed in this e-mail are those of the individual and not necessarily the Musicians' Union. This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential and solely for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not the intended recipient or the person responsible for delivering to the intended recipient, be advised that you have received this e-mail in error and that any use is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, advise the sender immediately by using the reply facility in your e-mail software.

We have taken every reasonable precaution to ensure that any attachment to this e-mail is swept for viruses. However we cannot accept liability for any damage sustained as a result of software viruses and advise you to carry out your own virus checks before opening any attachment.

This page is intentionally left blank





www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

## STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

## 2019 - 2024

**Bromsgrove District Council** 

Parkside Market Street Bromsgrove Worcestershire B61 8DA

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

**Revised for the five year period from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019** 

## **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	<mark>4</mark>
2. Licensing Objectives and Aims	<mark>5</mark>
3. Scope of the Licensing Authority's Functions	<mark>6</mark>
4. Purpose of the Statement of Licensing Policy	7
5. General Principles	8
6. Applications for Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates	<mark>9</mark>
7. Representations	<mark>16</mark>
8. Licensing Hours	<mark>19</mark>
9. Conditions on Licences and Certificates	<mark>20</mark>
10. Reviews	<mark>21</mark>
11. Minor Variations	<mark>23</mark>
12. Cumulative Impact	<mark>24</mark>
13. Personal Licences – New Applications	<mark>26</mark>
14. Personal Licences – Suspension and Revocation	<mark>28</mark>
15. Immigration Act 2016 – Entitlement to Work	<mark>30</mark>
16. Enforcement and Complaints	<mark>31</mark>

17. Integrating Strategies and Partnership Working	<mark>32</mark>
18. Equal Opportunities	<mark>33</mark>
19. Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions	<mark>34</mark>
20. Relationship with Planning	<mark>35</mark>
21. Temporary Event Notices	<mark>36</mark>
22. Live Music Act 2012 and other Entertainment Licensing Deregulation	<mark>37</mark>
23. Sexual Entertainment Venues	<mark>39</mark>
24. Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders (EMROs)	<mark>40</mark>
25. Late Night Levy	<mark>41</mark>
26. Late Night Refreshment – Local Powers to Deregulate	<mark>42</mark>
27. Suspension of Licences and Certificates for Non-Payment of Annual Fees	<mark>43</mark>
Appendix A – Table of Delegated Functions	<mark>44</mark>

## 1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 Bromsgrove District Council (the Council) is a licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and therefore has responsibilities for the administration and enforcement of the Act within the District.
- 1.2 These include, among other duties, the granting of premises licences, club premises certificates, temporary events notices and personal licences in the District in respect of the sale and/or supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment and late night refreshment.
- 1.3 Bromsgrove District is one of three Local Authorities in the north of Worcestershire and has a population of approximately 95, 750 and is mainly rural in character (90% of the area is classed as green belt), and has a total area of 83.9 square miles.
- 1.4 The principal town in the district is Bromsgrove with three other significant towns, namely Rubery, Wythall and Hagley, which are then surrounded by numerous villages, each with their own individual character.
- 1.5 Due to its central location in the UK, the district has excellent transport links by road and rail and has a thriving local economy in which premises licensed for sale of alcohol play a prominent part.
- 1.6 Bromsgrove District Council's overall vision is to "work together to build a district where people are proud to live and work through community leadership and excellent services." This policy statement accords with our vision and Council's strategic purposes as described in the Council Plan.

## 2.0 Licensing Objectives and Aims

2.1 The Licensing Act 2003 provides a clear focus on the promotion of four key licensing objectives. As a licensing authority Bromsgrove District Council will always seek to carry out its licensing functions with a view to promoting these four objectives.

The licensing objectives are:

- The prevention of crime and disorder
- Public safety
- The prevention of public nuisance
- The protection of children from harm
- 2.2 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so the promotion of the four objectives is the paramount consideration at all times.
- 2.3 However, the licensing authority recognises that the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes. It is recognised that these are also vitally important and should be aims for everyone involved in licensing work.

They include:

- Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises;
- Giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to
  effectively manage and police the night-time economy and take action
  against those premises that are causing problems;
- Recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our local communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and supporting responsible premises;
- Providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local communities and empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate licensing strategies for their local area; and
- Encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may impact upon them.

## 3.0 Scope of the Licensing Authority's Functions

- 3.1 As a licensing authority the Council is responsible for the authorisation of 'licensable activities'. The licensable activities that are required to be authorised under the Act are as follows:
  - The sale by retail of alcohol,
  - the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club,
  - the provision of regulated entertainment, and
  - the provision of late night refreshment
- 3.2 The licensing authority is responsible for four different types of authorisation or permission, as follows:
  - Premises licence to use premises for licensable activities.
  - Club premises certificate to allow a qualifying club to use premises for qualifying club activities.
  - Temporary event notice to carry out licensable activities on a temporary basis for an event.
  - Personal licence to allow a person to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from premises in respect of which there is a premises licence.

## 4.0 **Purpose of the Statement of Licensing Policy**

- 4.1 This statement of policy has been prepared and updated in accordance with the latest amended provisions of the 2003 Act and the latest revised guidance issued under section 182 of the Act. The statement sets out the principles the licensing authority will generally apply to promote the licensing objectives when making decisions on applications made under the Act.
- 4.2 The main purpose of this policy is to provide clarity to applicants, responsible authorities and other persons on how the licensing authority will determine applications for the supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment and the provision of late night refreshment and also to provide a basis for all licensing decisions taken by the licensing authority. It will also inform elected Members of the parameters within which licensing decisions can be made.
- 4.3 This policy sets out the process the licensing authority will adopt in dealing with licence applications with particular regard to the various types of premises and permissions and the various conditions that can be attached to licences if relevant representations are made. It also highlights the Council's undertaking to avoid duplication with other statutory provisions and its commitment to work in partnership with other enforcement agencies.
- 4.4 When carrying out its licensing functions the Council will always have regard to this statement of policy and the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.
- 4.5 The licensing authority may depart from this policy or the Guidance if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a decision in the interests of promoting the four licensing objectives. Whenever the licensing authority takes a decision to depart from this policy or the Guidance, clear reasons will be given.
- 4.6 The Licensing Authority has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to do all it can to prevent Crime and Disorder in the District.
- 4.7 The statement of policy took effect on 1<sup>st</sup> April 2019 and will be kept under review. A revised statement of policy will be published before 1<sup>st</sup> April 2024.

## 5.0 General Principles

- 5.1 Every application received by the licensing authority will be considered on its own individual merits.
- 5.2 If an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate has been made lawfully and there have been no representations from responsible authorities or other persons, the licensing authority must grant the application, subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule and any relevant mandatory conditions.
- 5.3 The licensing authority will aim to carry out its licensing functions in a way that promotes tourism, increases leisure and culture provision and encourages economic development within the District.
- 5.4 However the licensing authority will also always try and balance the needs of the wider community, local community and commercial premises, against the needs of those whose quality of life may be adversely affected by the carrying on of licensable activities, particularly within residential areas.
- 5.5 In particular the licensing authority will attempt to control any potential negative impacts from the carrying on of licensable activities, such as increased crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, noise, nuisance, risks to public safety and harm to children.
- 5.6 The licensing authority's aim is to facilitate well run and managed premises with licence holders displaying sensitivity to the impact of the premises on local residents.
- 5.7 The licensing authority acknowledges that licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the authorisation concerned. As a matter of policy, however, the licensing authority expects every holder of an authorisation to take all reasonable steps to minimise the impact of their activities and anti-social behaviour by their patrons within the immediate surroundings of their premises.
- 5.8 "Need" concerns the commercial demand for another pub, restaurant or hotel and is a matter for the planning authority and for the market. Need is not a matter that the licensing authority can consider in carrying out its licensing functions.

## 6.0 Applications for Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates

- 6.1 The relevant application forms and associated documents can be obtained from the licensing authority's website or from licensing officers during normal office hours.
- 6.2 Along with the application form, applicants must also submit an operating schedule and plans of the premises to which the application relates. The licensing authority would like any plans submitted to be drawn to a recognised scale, i.e. 1:50 or 1:100, or 1:150, or 1:200. The plans should also be clear and legible in all material respects, i.e. they must be accessible and provides sufficient detail for the licensing authority to be able to determine the application, including the relative size of any features relevant to the application. This should include details of any passive or active fire safety measures including location of smoke detectors, call points, other fire alarm equipment, fire extinguishers, emergency lights and fire exits. The licensing authority does not require plans to be professionally drawn as long as they clearly show all the prescribed information.
- 6.3 Through their operating schedule, applicants will be expected to demonstrate the positive steps that they will take to promote the four licensing objectives.

#### **Operating Schedules**

- 6.4 The operating schedule is a key document and, if prepared comprehensively, will form the basis on which premises can be licensed without the need for additional extensive conditions. All applicants for the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate are required to provide an operating schedule as part of their application. The licensing authority expects an operating schedule to indicate the positive steps that the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives.
- 6.5 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to this statement of licensing policy and to demonstrate suitable knowledge of their local area when describing the steps that they propose to take in order to promote the licensing objectives.
- 6.6 The licensing authority will provide general advice on the drafting of operating schedules and applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating schedules with the licensing authority and other responsible authorities prior to submitting them.
- 6.7 The complexity and detail required in the operating schedule will depend upon the nature and use of the premises concerned. For premises such as a public house where regulated entertainment is not provided, only a relatively simple document may be required. However for an operating schedule accompanying an application for a major entertainment venue or event, it will be expected that issues such as public safety and the prevention of crime and disorder will be addressed in detail.
- 6.8 The operating schedule must be set out on the prescribed form and include a statement of the following:-
  - Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the intended use of the premises;

- The times during which the licensable activities will take place;
- Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public;
- Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period;
- Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the individual to be specified as the designated premises supervisor;
- Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both;
- The steps which the applicant proposes to promote the licensing objectives.
- 6.9 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one or more of the licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered by other existing legislation. It is however important that all operating schedules should be precise and clear about the measures that are proposed to promote each of the licensing objectives.

#### Guidance on Completing an Operating Schedule

6.10 The following guidance is intended to assist applicants by setting out considerations that they should have in mind when drawing up their operating schedules. The guidance is designed to alert applicants to any matters that responsible authorities are likely to consider when deciding whether to make representations on an application or whether to call for a review.

#### (a) Prevention of Crime and Disorder

- 6.11 Licensed premises, especially those offering late night/early morning entertainment, alcohol and refreshment for large numbers of people, can sometimes be a source of crime and disorder problems.
- 6.12 The licensing authority will expect operating schedules, where appropriate, to satisfactorily address these issues from the design of the premises through to the daily operation of the business.
- 6.13 The licensing authority will normally look to the police as the main source of advice on crime and disorder and therefore applicants are recommended to seek advice from West Mercia Police in relation to what steps they can take to promote the prevention of crime and disorder.
- 6.14 In addition when planning and preparing operating schedules applicants are advised to take into account local planning and transport policies, tourism and cultural policies, as well as crime and disorder reduction strategies as appropriate.
- 6.15 In addition to the requirements for the licensing authority to promote the licensing objectives, it also has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1988 to do all it can to prevent crime and disorder in the District.

- 6.16 When considering all licence applications the licensing authority will take into account the measures proposed to deal with the potential for, and the prevention of, crime and disorder having regard to all circumstances of the application. Applicants should include information on these issues within the operating schedule for the premises.
- 6.17 In particular, the licensing authority will consider the actions, which are appropriate for the premises that the applicant has taken, or is proposing to take with regard to the following:
  - i) the ability of the person in charge of the premises to monitor the premises at all times that it is open; although this does not mean that the designated premises supervisor has to be present at all times.
  - ii) the training given to staff regarding crime prevention measures for the premises;
  - iii) physical security features installed in the premises (e.g. position of cash registers, CCTV, toughened drinking glasses etc.);
  - iv) management attitudes (e.g. responsible pricing promotions, willingness to stagger trading, willingness to limit sales of bottles or canned alcohol for immediate consumption and preventing the sale of alcohol to people who are drunk);
  - v) any other measure as may be appropriate (e.g. participation in local Pubwatch and/or Shopwatch schemes or 'Behave or be Banned' schemes (BOBS), restrictions on 'happy hours', music wind-down policies);
  - vi) the measures employed to prevent the consumption or supply of illegal drugs, including any search procedures and entry policies;
  - vii) where the premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures in place to conduct age verification checks;
  - viii) the likelihood of any violence, public order of policing problems if the licence is granted.
  - ix) the employment of door safety staff licensed by the Security Industries Association (SIA)
- 6.18 Applicants for late night entertainment and alcohol premises should show that they can comply with the Home Office Guidance 'Safer Clubbing' in relation to the control of illegal drugs on their premises. They should agree a protocol with the licensing authority and West Mercia Police on the handling of illegal drugs found on their premises.
- 6.19 The licensing authority in setting its policies and practices considering applications for licensed premises will have due regard to the current Crime and Disorder Strategy for the Area. Regard will be had to the relatively low crime levels in the area and any disproportionate effects likely to be perceived by residents and members of the public due to nuisance, anti-social behaviour and disorder arising or likely to arise as the result of granting a licence.

#### (b) Public Safety

6.20 The Licensing Act 2003 covers a wide range of premises that require licensing including cinemas, nightclubs, public houses, village and community halls, schools, cafes, restaurants and fast food outlets/takeaways. Each of these types of premises present a mixture of risks, some of which may be common to most premises whilst others will be unique to specific operations. Risk assessments must reflect the local nature of risks applying to each event and or venue.

The licensing authority will expect operating schedules, where appropriate, to satisfactorily address these public safety issues. Applicants are encouraged to seek advice from licensing authority officers and the Fire Safety Section of Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service.

- 6.21 Where an inspection is required for premises the licensing authority will try where possible to reduce inconvenience, confusion and inconsistency by co-ordinating inspections and visits with the fire authority, police, building control and environmental health officers, as appropriate.
- 6.22 The identification of a safe capacity limit for premises ensures that persons can be evacuated safely from premises in cases of emergency and may be one means of promoting the Act's public safety objective. The design and layout of premises are important factors when determining a safe occupant capacity. Other factors that may influence safe occupancy limits and may need to be considered when assessing the appropriate capacity for premises or events include:
  - the nature of the premises or event
  - the nature of the licensable activities being provided
  - the provision or removal of such items as temporary structures, such as a stage, or furniture
  - the number of staff available to supervise customers both ordinarily and in the event of an emergency
  - the age spectrum of the customers
  - the attendance by customers with disabilities, or whose first language is not English
  - availability of suitable and sufficient sanitary facilities
  - nature and provision of facilities for ventilation
- 6.23 The licensing authority encourages applicants for premises licences to seek advice regarding safe occupancy levels from the Fire Safety Section of Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service. Where the licensing authority's discretion has been engaged following receipt of a relevant representation and it believes it is appropriate for reasons of public safety to impose a condition identifying an occupancy limit, the licensing authority will not normally seek to impose an occupancy limit different to that identified by the Fire Authority if this differs from the figure set in the applicant's Fire Risk Assessment.

#### (c) Prevention of Public Nuisance

- 6.24 Licensed premises, especially those operating late at night and in the early hours of the morning, can sometimes cause a range of nuisances impacting on people living, working or sleeping in the area surrounding the premises.
- 6.25 The licensing authority is keen to protect the amenity of residents and businesses within the area surrounding a licensed premise that are affected by the carrying on of licensable activities at that premise.
- 6.26 In addition, the licensing authority is aware of the importance of the licensed trade to the local economy and its culture and leisure aspirations. The licensing authority will, therefore, try and work together with all affected parties, statutory agencies and licensed businesses to ensure a mutual co-existence.

- 6.27 When considering all licence applications, the licensing authority will take into account the adequacy of measures proposed to deal with the potential for nuisance and/or anti-social behaviour having regard to all the circumstances of the application.
- 6.28 In particular the licensing authority will consider the action that is appropriate for the premises that the applicant has taken or is proposing with regard to the following:
  - prevention of noise and vibration escaping from the premises, including music, noise from ventilation equipment, and human voices. Such measures may include the installation of soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound limitation devices;
  - ii) The structural suitability of the premises to provide the licensable activities sought including for example matters such as whether the premises benefits from double glazing and lobbied doors.
  - iii) preventing disturbance by customers arriving at or leaving the premises, particularly between 11.00 pm and 7.00 am;
  - iv) preventing queuing by pedestrians or vehicular traffic, or if some queuing is inevitable then ensuring the queues are diverted away from neighbouring premises, or are otherwise managed, to prevent disturbance or obstruction;
  - v) ensuring staff leave the premises quietly;
  - vi) arrangements for parking by patrons and staff, and the effect of the parking on local residents;
  - vii) provision for public transport (including taxis and private hire vehicles) for patrons;
  - viii) whether licensed taxis or private hire vehicles are likely to disturb local residents;
  - ix) whether routes to and from the premises on foot, by car or other services pass residential premises;
  - x) the installation of any special measures where licensed premises are, or are proposed to be, located near sensitive premises such as nursing homes, hospitals, hospices or places of worship;
  - xi) the use of gardens and other open-air areas;
  - xii) the location of external lighting, including security lighting that is installed;
  - xiii) other appropriate measures to prevent nuisance, such as the employment of registered door supervisors or the use of CCTV;
  - xiv) preventing the consumption or supply of illegal drugs, including search procedures;
  - whether the premises would lead to increased refuse storage or disposal problems, or additional litter (including fly posters and illegal placards) in the vicinity of the premises;
  - xvi) the history of previous nuisance complaints proved to have taken place at the premises, particularly where statutory notices have been served on the present licensees.
- 6.29 The Music Venue Trust is a UK Registered Charity which acts to protect, secure and improve UK Grassroots Music Venues for the benefit of venues, communities and upcoming artists. The Music Venue Trust can offer advice to venues that offer musical entertainment and their website is <a href="http://musicvenuetrust.com/">http://musicvenuetrust.com/</a>

- 6.30 The licensing authority is keen to stress, however, that as well as the licensing function there are other mechanisms for addressing issues of unruly behaviour that occur away from licensed premises. These include:
  - planning controls;
  - powers to designate parts of the District as places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly and the confiscation of alcohol in these areas;
  - police powers to close some premises for up to 24 hours in extreme cases of disorder or excessive noise;
  - police enforcement of the law with regard to disorder and anti-social behaviour;
  - the power of responsible authorities or interested parties to request a review of the licence;
  - enforcement action against those selling alcohol to people who are already drunk.

#### (d) Protection of Children from Harm

- 6.31 The licensing authority recognises that there are a range of activities for which licences may be sought meaning that children can be expected to visit many of these premises, often on their own, for food and /or other entertainment.
- 6.32 The Licensing Act 2003 does not prevent children having free access to any licensed premises. The licensing authority recognises that limitations may have to be considered where it is deemed necessary to protect children from harm. The following are examples of premises that may raise concerns:
  - where there have been convictions for serving alcohol to minors, or with a reputation for under-age drinking;
  - with a known association with drug taking or dealing;
  - where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises;
  - where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided;
  - where there is a presumption that children under 18 should not be allowed (e.g. to nightclubs, except when under 18 discos are being held).
- 6.33 The licensing authority expects personal licence holders to *seek* to ensure alcohol is not served to children under the age of 18, except in limited conditions allowed for by law. The licensing authority recommends that the only way to verify a person's proof of age is with reference to the following:-
  - passport
  - a photocard driving licence issued in a European Union country;
  - a Proof of Age Standards Scheme card;
  - a Citizen Card, supported by the Home Office (details from www.citizencard.net);
  - an official identity card issued by HM Forces or by a European Union country bearing the photograph and date of birth of the bearer.
- 6.34 When deciding whether to limit the access of children to premises the licensing authority will judge each application on its own merits and a range of conditions may be imposed depending on the circumstances. To assist with this the licensing authority will consult with West Mercia Police and the Worcestershire

Safeguarding Children Board if practical or other agencies as the licensing authority consider appropriate.

- 6.35 Where concerns have been identified in respect of individual premises and it is felt that access to the premises by children should be restricted the options available include:
  - limitations on the hours when children may be present;
  - age limitations for persons under 18;
  - limitations or exclusion when certain activities are taking place;
  - full exclusion of person under 18 when certain licensable activities are taking place;
  - limitation of access to certain parts of the premises for under 18s;
  - a requirement for an accompanying adult to be present.
- 6.36 However these options are not exhaustive and other options may be considered as the Council considers appropriate. The licensing authority also commends the adoption of the Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks by prospective licensees where the licence applies to the sale of alcohol.
- 6.37 The Licensing Act details a number of offences that are designed to protect children in licensed premises and the licensing authority will work closely with the Police and Trading Standards Services to ensure appropriate and effective enforcement is undertaken, especially in relation to the sale and supply of alcohol to children.
- 6.38 The Licensing Authority will not impose any conditions that specifically require the access of children to the premises.
- 6.39 Where no conditions or restrictions are imposed, the issue of access for children remains a matter of discretion for individual licensees or clubs subject to any relevant provisions in law.
- 6.40 Films cover a vast range of subjects, some of which deal with adult themes and/or contain, for example scenes of horror or violence that may be considered unsuitable for children with certain age ranges. Where a premise is used for film exhibitions, the licensing authority will normally impose conditions restricting access only to persons who meet the required age limit in line with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification or the licensing authority itself.
- 6.41 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees to ensure that age restrictions for film exhibitions are properly complied with.
- 6.42 In considering applications, the licensing authority will take into account any evidence that age restrictions for film exhibitions are not being properly observed.

- 6.43 Many children attend or take part in an entertainment arranged especially for them, for example children's shows, dance and drama or school productions. Specific additional arrangements may need to be operated to ensure their safety. For example:
  - an adult member of staff to be stationed at each and every exit from any level and to the outside and subject to there being a minimum of one member of staff to fifty children or part thereof.
  - No child is to be permitted in the front row of any balcony unless they are supervised by an adult.
#### 7.0 Representations

- 7.1 When an application is made for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, representations about the application can be made by responsible authorities or other persons.
- 7.2 Representations must be made to the licensing authority within the statutory period of 28 days beginning on the day after the relevant application is received by the licensing authority. Representations must be made in writing
- 7.3 Representations can be made either be in support of an application or to express objections to an application being granted. However the licensing authority can only accept "relevant representations." A representation is "relevant" if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives.
- 7.4 An example of a representation that would not be relevant would be a representation from a local businessperson about the commercial damage that competition from a new licensed premise would do to their own business. On the other hand, a representation by a businessperson that nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from entering the local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance were inadequate, would be a relevant representation.
- 7.5 In other words, representations should relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises on the licensing objectives.
- 7.6 For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be confined to the subject matter of the variation.
- 7.7 Whilst the licensing authority expects representations to be evidence based, there is no requirement for a responsible authority or other person to produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their representations, and it is recognised that in fact this would not be possible for new premises.

#### (a) Representations from Responsible Authorities

- 7.8 Responsible authorities are a group of public bodies that must be fully notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence or club premises certificate. A full list of contact details for the responsible authorities is provided on the licensing authority's website.
- 7.9 Whilst all responsible authorities may make representations regarding applications for licences and club premises certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each responsible authority to determine when they have appropriate grounds to do so.
- 7.10 The licensing authority recognises that every responsible authority can make representations relating to any of the four licensing objectives. However the licensing authority would normally expect representations about the promotion of individual licensing objectives to come from the most relevant responsible authority with expertise in that particular area. For example the licensing authority would expect representations about the prevention of crime and disorder to come

primarily from the police and representations about the prevention of public nuisance to come primarily from environmental health.

- 7.11 The licensing authority recognises that the police should be its main source of advice on matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective, but also may be able to make relevant representations with regards to the other licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations.
- 7.12 The licensing authority will accept all reasonable and proportionate representations made by the police unless it has evidence that do so would not be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. However the licensing authority will still expect any police representations to be evidence based and able to withstand scrutiny at a hearing.
- 7.13 The licensing authority recognises Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board as being the body that is competent to advise it on the licensing objective of the protection of children from harm.
- 7.14 The licensing authority recognises that, although public health is not a licensing objective, health bodies may hold information which other responsible authorities do not, but which would assist the licensing authority in exercising its functions.
- 7.15 For example, drunkenness can lead to accidents and injuries from violence, resulting in attendances at emergency departments and the use of ambulance services. Some of these incidents will be reported to the police, but many will not. Such information might be relevant to the public safety objective and in some cases the crime and disorder objective.
- 7.16 As a result of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the licensing authority is also now a responsible authority and can therefore make representations if it deems it appropriate to do so.
- 7.17 However the licensing authority will not normally act as a responsible authority on behalf of other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) although there are occasions where the authority may decide to do so.
- 7.18 Such parties can make relevant representations to the licensing authority in their own right, and the licensing authority expects them to make representations themselves where they are reasonably able to do so.
- 7.19 The licensing authority also expects that other responsible authorities should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other responsible authority. Each responsible authority has equal standing under the 2003 Act and may act independently without waiting for representations from any other responsible authority.
- 7.20 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to the same process, the licensing authority will seek to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the authority to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. This will be achieved by allocating the different responsibilities to different licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper separation of responsibilities.

- 7.21 The Director of Public Health has been prescribed as a responsible authority since April 2013.
- 7.22 There is not a specific licensing objective related directly to health within the current legislation. When making a representation, the Director of Public Health is most likely to relate such representations to the objectives on public safety and protecting children from harm. This is likely to include the prevention of accidents, injuries and other immediate harms that can result from alcohol consumption, such as unconsciousness or alcohol poisoning.
- 7.23 Health bodies hold valuable information which may not be recorded by other agencies, including analysis of data on attendance at emergency departments and the use of ambulance services following alcohol related incidents. Sometimes it may be possible to link ambulance callouts and attendance to irresponsible practices at specific premises. Anonymised data can be collated about incidents relating to specific premises and presented to Licensing Sub-Committees when representations are made.

#### (b) Representations from Other Persons

- 7.24 Relevant representations about applications can also be made by any other person, regardless of their geographical position in relation to the relevant premises. However the licensing authority will usually give greater weight to representations that are made by people who can demonstrate that they would be directly affected by the carrying on of licensable activities at the premises concerned.
- 7.25 The licensing authority will also reject as invalid, any representations from other persons that are deemed to be frivolous or vexatious. A representation might be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause. Frivolous representations are essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate.
- 7.26 Decisions as to the validity of representations will normally be made by officers of the licensing authority. In borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a representation will be given to the person making that representation. The subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making the representation to amplify and clarify it.
- 7.27 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these grounds may lodge a complaint through the authority's corporate complaints procedure. A person may also challenge such a decision by way of judicial review.
- 7.28 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the licensing authority is required to provide the applicant with copies of the relevant representations that have been made.
- 7.29 The licensing authority will normally provide copies of the relevant representations to the applicant in full and without redaction. However in exceptional circumstances, where a person satisfies the licensing authority that they have genuine reasons to fear intimidation or violence if their personal details, such as name and address, are divulged to the applicant, the copies of the representations may be redacted accordingly.

- 7.30 In such circumstances the licensing authority will still provide some details to the applicant (such as street name or general location within a street), so that the applicant can fully prepare their response to any particular representation.
- 7.31 Alternatively persons may wish to contact the relevant responsible authority or their local Councillor with details of how they consider that the licensing objectives are being undermined so that the responsible authority can make representations on their behalf if appropriate and justified.
- 7.32 Further guidance on making representations is provided on the licensing authority's website.

### 8.0 Licensing Hours

- 8.1 The licensing authority recognises the variety of premises for which licences will be sought and that fixed and artificially early closing times in certain areas can lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets when people tend to leave licensed premises at the same time.
- 8.2 When determining what licensing hours are appropriate for a premises the licensing authority will always consider each application on its own merits and will not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration to the merits of each application. The licensing authority will take into account requests for licensable hours in the light of:
  - environmental quality;
  - residential amenity;
  - the character or function of a particular area; and
  - the nature of the proposed activities to be provided at the premises.
- 8.3 Consideration may be given to imposing stricter restrictions on licensing hours when it is appropriate to control noise and disturbance from particular licensed premises, such as those in mainly residential areas.
- 8.4 In accordance with established practice, the licensing authority encourages applicants, to include measures of good practice in their operating schedules such as a policy of prohibiting new persons from being admitted to their premises after 11.00 pm in order to reduce the risk of disorder and disturbance to members of the public late at night, where this is appropriate to the premises concerned.
- 8.5 Generally the licensing authority will consider licensing shops, stores and supermarkets to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises during the normal hours they intend to open for shopping purposes. There may, however, be instances where it is considered that there are good reasons for restricting those hours, for example, where police representations are made in respect of isolated shops known to be the focus of disorder and public nuisance.

### 9.0 Conditions on Licences and Certificates

- 9.1 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting the parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. The licensing authority will ensure any conditions that are imposed on a premises licence or club premises certificate:
  - Are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives;
  - Are precise and enforceable;
  - Are unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve;
  - Do not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on the employer by other legislation;
  - Are tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events concerned;
  - Are not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case;
  - Do not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation;
  - Are proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met, (for example, whilst beer glasses may be available in toughened glass, wine glasses may not);
  - Do not seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and
  - Are written in a prescriptive format.
- 9.2 Although the licensing authority may use standardised forms of wording in conditions to cover commonly arising situations and circumstances, "blanket conditions" will not be applied to licences and specific conditions may be drawn up and applied to meet local need and circumstances.

#### 10.0 Reviews

- 10.1 At any stage, following the grant or a premises licence or club premises certificate, a responsible authority or any other person, may apply to the licensing authority for a review of the licence or certificate because of a problem arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.
- 10.2 In every case the application for review must relate to particular premises for which a licence or certificate is in force and must be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 10.3 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply for a review if it is concerned about licensed activities at premises and wants to intervene early without waiting for representations from other persons.
- 10.4 However, the licensing authority will not normally act as a responsible authority in applying for reviews on behalf of other persons, such as local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups are entitled to apply for a review for a licence or certificate in their own right if they have grounds to do so.
- 10.5 The licensing authority also expects other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police should take appropriate steps where the basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder. Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is expected that environmental health will make the application for review.
- 10.6 Where responsible authorities have concerns about problems identified at premises, the licensing authority considers it good practice for them to give licence holders early warning of their concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible they should advise the licence or certificate holder of the steps they need to take to address those concerns.
- 10.7 A failure by the holder to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a decision to apply for a review. The licensing authority believes that co-operation at a local level in promoting the licensing objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be used to undermine this co-operation.
- 10.8 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible authority (for example, a local resident, residents' association, local business or trade association), before taking action the licensing authority will first consider whether the complaint being made is relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.
- 10.9 A review application might be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause. Frivolous applications are essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. Frivolous applications would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate.
- 10.10 The licensing authority considers a repetitious ground for review to be one that is identical or substantially similar to:

- a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to the same premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or
- representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or certificate was granted; or
- representations which would have been made when the application for the premises licence was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of a provisional statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a reasonable interval has not elapsed since that earlier review or grant.
- 10.11 The licensing authorities is aware of the need to prevent attempts to review licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence following the failure of representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion.
- 10.12 The licensing authority believes that more than one review originating from a person other than a responsible authority in relation to a particular premises should not normally be permitted within a 12 month period on similar grounds save in compelling circumstances or where it arises following a closure order.
- 10.13 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a review of a licence or certificate within a 12 month period.
- 10.14 Guidance on applying for a review of a licence or certificate, along with the necessary forms, can be found on the licensing authority's website.

### **11.0** Minor Variations

- 11.1 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact adversely on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified 'minor variations' process. Under this process, the applicant is not required to advertise the variation in a newspaper or circular, or copy it to responsible authorities. However, they must display it on a white notice (to distinguish it from the blue notice used for full variations and new applications).
- 11.2 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories: minor changes to the structure or layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of date, irrelevant or unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteered conditions; and the addition of certain licensable activities. In all cases the overall test is whether the proposed variation could impact adversely on any of the four licensing objectives.
- 11.3 On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing authority will consider whether the variation could impact adversely on the licensing objectives. Decisions on minor variations will normally be delegated to licensing officers who will look at each application on its own individual merits.
- 11.4 In considering the application, the officer will consult relevant responsible authorities if there is any doubt about the impact of the variation on the licensing objectives and they need specialist advice, and take their views into account in reaching a decision.
- 11.5 The officer will also carefully consider any relevant representations received from other persons that are received within a period of ten working days from the 'initial day', that is to say, the day after the application is received by the licensing authority.
- 11.6 The officer will then determine the application and will contact the applicant within 15 working days, beginning on the first working day after the authority received the application, with effect either that the minor variation is granted or the application is refused.

### **12.0** Cumulative Impact

- 12.1 Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives of a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area.
- 12.2 In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious problems of nuisance and disorder may arise outside or some distance from those premises. Such problems generally occur as a result of large numbers of drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example when leaving premises at peak times or when queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport.
- 12.3 Queuing in itself may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, large concentrations of people may also attract criminal activities such as drug dealing, pick pocketing and street robbery. Local services such as public transport, public lavatory provision and street cleaning may not be able to meet the demand posed by such concentrations of drinkers leading to issues such as street fouling, littering, traffic and public nuisance caused by concentrations of people who cannot be effectively dispersed quickly.
- 12.4 Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers from premises. However, in some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of the customers of all premises taken together will be greater than the impact of customers of individual premises. These conditions are more likely to arise in town and city centres, but may also arise in other urban centres and the suburbs, for example on smaller high streets with high concentrations of licensed premises.
- 12.5 With effect from 6 April 2018, the Policing and Crime Act 2017 introduced the concept of cumulative impact assessments into the Licensing Act 2003 by inserting into the Act a new section 5A.
- 12.6 A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority to help it to limit the number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to show that the number or density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative impact and leading to problems which are undermining the licensing objectives. CIAs relate to applications for new premises licences and club premises certificates and applications to vary existing premises licences and club premises certificates in a specified area.
- 12.7 At the current time the licensing authority has not published a CIA as there is not currently an evidential basis on which to base such a decision.
- 12.8 If the licensing authority were to consider the publication of a CIA in the future, it would do so in accordance with the requirements of section 5A of the Licensing Act 2003 and with regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.

### **13.0** Personal Licences – New Applications

- 13.1 A personal licence is a licence issued to an individual authorising them to make or authorise the sale of alcohol in accordance with a premises licence. Every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol must specify an individual who acts as the designated premises supervisor (DPS). The DPS must hold a personal licence.
- 13.2 Applications for personal licences should be made to the licensing authority for the area where the applicant is ordinarily resident at the time they make their application.
- 13.3 (a) The applicant is aged 18 or over
  - (b) The applicant is entitled to work in the United Kingdom
  - (c) The applicant possesses a licensing qualification or is a person of a prescribed description
  - (d) The applicant has not forfeited a personal licence in the five year period prior to their application being made
  - (e) The applicant has not been convicted or any relevant offence or any foreign offence or required to pay an immigration penalty
- 13.4 The licensing authority must reject an application if the applicant fails to meet one or more of the requirements set out in (a) to (d) above.
- 13.5 Where the applicant meets the requirements in (a) to (d) but does not meet the requirements of (e), the licensing authority must give the chief officer of police for its area a notice to this effect. Having received such a notice, if the chief officer of police is satisfied that the granting of the application would undermine the crime prevention objective, he must within 14 days, give the licensing authority a notice to that effect.
- 13.6 Where the applicant fails to meet the requirements of (e) as a result of a conviction for an immigration offence or because they have been required to pay an immigration penalty, the licensing authority must give a notice to the Secretary of State for the Home Department to that effect. The Home Office may object to an application on grounds that granting the personal licence would be prejudicial to the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises.
- 13.7 Where an objection to the grant of a personal licence is received from either the chief officer of police or the Home Office, the applicant is entitled to a hearing before the licensing authority. If no objections are received, the licensing authority must grant the application.
- 13.8 At a hearing to determine a personal licence application to which the chief officer of police or Home Office have objected, the licensing authority will have regard to all of the circumstances including the following:
  - The need to assess each case on its merits
  - The duty to promote the crime prevention objective
  - The objection notice given by the Police or Home Office
  - The guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
  - The seriousness of the relevant offence
  - The sentence or penalty imposed on the applicant for the relevant offence

- Any representations made by the applicant
- Any other evidence as to the previous character of the applicant
- 13.9 If, having considered all of the circumstances, the licensing authority considers that it is appropriate for either the promotion of the crime prevention objective or for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises to reject the application, it must do so. In all other cases the application must be granted.
- 13.10 If an application is refused, the applicant will be entitled to appeal against the decision they make. Similarly, if the application is granted despite a police objection notice or an objection from the Home Office, the chief officer of police or Home Office are entitled to appeal against the licensing authority's determination. The licensing authority will therefore record in full the reasons for any decision that it makes.

### 14.0 Personal Licences – Suspension and Revocation

- 14.1 Section 138 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 amended the Licensing Act 2003 and gave the power to a licensing authority to suspend or revoke personal licences that it has issued with effect from 6 April 2017.
- 14.2 When a licensing authority has granted a personal licence and becomes aware that the licence holder has been convicted of a relevant offence or foreign offence or been required to pay an immigration penalty, a licensing authority may revoke the licence or suspend it for a period of up to six months. This applies to convictions received and civil immigration penalties which a person has been required to pay at any time before or after the licence was granted, as long as the conviction was received after 6 April 2017, or the requirement to pay the civil penalty arose after 6 April 2017. Only magistrates' courts can order the forfeiture or suspension of a personal licence for convictions received prior to 6 April 2017.
- 14.3 The process which must be undertaken by the licensing authority to suspend or revoke a personal licence is set out at section 132A of the 2003 Act. The decision to revoke or suspend a personal licence must be made by the licensing committee or sub-committee, but the actions required before making a final decision may be made by a licensing officer.
- 14.4 The licensing authority may not take action if the licence holder has appealed against the conviction or the sentence imposed in relation to the offence, until the appeal is disposed of. Where an appeal is not lodged, the licensing authority may not take action until the time limit for making an appeal has expired.
- 14.5 If a licensing authority is considering revoking or suspending a personal licence, the authority must give notice to the licence holder. This notice must invite the holder to make representations about the conviction, any decision of a court in relation to the licence, or any decision by an appellate court if the licence holder has appealed such a decision. The licence holder may also decide to include any other information, for example, about their personal circumstances.
- 14.6 The licence holder must be given 28 days to make their representation, beginning on the day the notice was issued. The licensing authority does not need to hold a hearing to consider the representations. Before deciding whether to revoke or suspend the licence the licensing authority must consider any representations made by the licence holder, any decisions made by the court or appellate court in respect of the personal licence of which the licensing authority is aware, and any other information which the licensing authority considers relevant.
- 14.7 The licensing authority may not be aware of whether the court considered whether to revoke or suspend the licence, and there is no obligation on the licensing authority to find this out before making a decision themselves. Where the court has considered the personal licence and decided not to take action, this does not prevent the licensing authority from deciding to take action itself. Licensing authorities have different aims to courts in that they must fulfil their statutory duty to promote the licensing objectives, and therefore it is appropriate for the licensing authority to come to its own decision about the licence.
- 14.8 If the licensing authority, having considered a suspension and revocation and subsequently considered all the information made available to it, proposes not to revoke the licence it must give notice to the chief officer of police in the licensing

authority's area, and invite the chief officer to make representations about whether the licence should be suspended or revoked, having regard to the prevention of crime. The chief officer may make representations within the period of 14 days from the day they receive the notice from the licensing authority.

- 14.9 Any representations made by the chief officer of police must be taken into account by the licensing authority in deciding whether to suspend or revoke the licence.
- 14.10 Convictions may come to light via police in another area, for example if the personal licence holder no longer lives in the area of the licensing authority which issued the licence, or if the offence took place in another police force area. In this instance it would be good practice for the police providing the information to notify the police force in the licensing authority area, because it is the local chief officer who must provide representations if the licensing authority proposes not to revoke the licence.
- 14.11 Where the licence holder is convicted of immigration offences or has been required to pay a civil penalty for immigration matters, the licensing authority should notify Home Office Immigration Enforcement and allow representations to be made in the same way.
- 14.12 In deciding whether to suspend or revoke a personal licence, the licensing authority will have regard to all of the circumstances including the following:
  - The need to assess each case on its merits
  - The duty to promote the licensing objectives
  - The guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
  - The seriousness of the relevant offence
  - The sentence or penalty imposed on the licence holder for the relevant offence
  - Any representations made by the Police or Home Office Immigration Enforcement
  - Any representations made by the holder of the licence
  - Any evidence as to the previous character of the holder of the licence
- 14.13 The licensing authority must notify the licence holder and the chief officer of police of the decision made (even if the police did not make representations). The licence holder may appeal the licensing authority's decision to revoke or suspend their personal licence. A decision to revoke or suspend the licence does not take effect until the end of the period allowed for appealing the decision (21 days); or if the decision is appealed against, until the appeal is disposed of.
- 14.14 If the personal licence holder is a DPS, the licensing authority may notify the premises licence holder once the decision to revoke or suspend the licence has been made if it becomes necessary to do so in order for the licensing authority to be able to carry out their functions.
- 14.15 The licensing authority may also notify any person who has declared an interest in the premises under section 178 of the 2003 Act if it becomes necessary to do so in order for the licensing authority to be able to carry out their functions.

### **15.0** Immigration Act 2016 – Entitlement to Work

- 15.1 Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the Immigration Act 2016 made a number of amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 to introduce immigration safeguards in respect of licensing applications made in England and Wales on or after 6 April 2017. The intention of these changes is to prevent illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or late night refreshment.
- 15.2 The statutory prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective in the Licensing Act 2003 includes the prevention of immigration crime and the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. The Council will work with the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) as well as the police, in respect of these matters.
- 15.3 Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the Immigration Act 2016 (the 2016 Act) amended the 2003 Act to provide that in England and Wales:
  - Premises licences to sell alcohol or provide late night refreshment and personal licences cannot be issued to an individual who does not have permission to be in the UK, or is not entitled to undertake work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity;
  - Licences issued to those with limited permission to be in the UK will lapse when their permission to be in the UK and work in a licensable activity comes to an end;
  - Immigration offences, including civil penalties, are 'relevant offences' as defined by the 2003 Act;
  - The Home Secretary (in practice Home Office (Immigration Enforcement)) was added to the list of responsible authorities in the licensing regime, which requires Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) to receive premises licence applications (except regulated entertainment only licences) and applications to transfer premises licences, and in some limited circumstances personal licence applications, and permits Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) to make appropriate representations and objections to the grant of a licence; and
  - Immigration officers are permitted to enter premises which they have reason to believe are being used to sell alcohol or provide late night refreshment, to investigate whether immigration offences are being committed in connection with the licensable activity.
- 15.4 The licensing authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Home Office in relation to the immigration related provisions now contained in the Licensing Act 2003.
- 15.5 The licensing authority will also work in partnership with the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) and West Mercia Police with a view to preventing illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or late night refreshment.

### 16.0 Enforcement and Complaints

- 16.1 Once licensed, it is essential that premises are maintained and operated so as to ensure the continued promotion of the licensing objectives and compliance with the specific requirements of the Licensing Act 2003. The licensing authority will monitor premises and take any appropriate enforcement action to ensure compliance. Only complaints linked to a licensing objective will be investigated.
- 16.2 The licensing authority's general approach to enforcement will be to target problem and high-risk premises which require greater attention, while providing a lighter touch for low risk premises or those that are well run. Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspections (in line with the recommendations of the Hampton review) will prevail and inspections will not be undertaken routinely but when and if they are judged necessary. This should ensure that resources are used efficiently and are more effectively concentrated on problem premises.
- 16.3 In most cases a graduated form of response will be taken to resolve issues of noncompliance, although it is recognised that in serious cases a prosecution or application for review are the appropriate means of disposal.
- 16.4 All decisions and enforcement actions taken by the licensing authority will be in accordance with the Council's Corporate Enforcement Policy and the principles of consistency, transparency and proportionality set out in the Regulator's Compliance Code.
- 16.5 The licensing authority will continue to employ officers to investigate allegations of unlicensed activities and to ensure that licence conditions are complied with, and will seek to work actively with West Mercia Police and other relevant partners in enforcing licensing legislation.
- 16.6 The licensing authority is happy to investigate complaints against licensed premises of any description. In the first instance, complainants will be encouraged to raise the complaint directly with the licensee or business concerned.
- 16.7 Where a person has made a complaint then the licensing authority may initially arrange a mediation meeting to try and address, clarify and resolve the issues of concern. This process will not override the right of any person to ask the licensing authority to review a licence or certificate or for any licence/certificate holder to decline to participate in a mediation meeting.

### 17.0 Integrating Strategies and Partnership Working

- 17.1 The Council regards licensing as the most appropriate tool in ensuring that the licensing objectives are promoted and will avoid as far as is possible any duplication with other regulatory regimes and legislation.
- 17.2 Licensing Committee, when appropriate, will be informed of relevant county and local strategies. The report may include information relating to:
  - Local crime prevention strategies;
  - Needs of the local tourist economy;
  - Any cultural strategy for the area;
  - Employment issues in the area;
  - Any relevant planning matters so as to ensure the clear distinction
  - between licensing and planning functions, and
  - Local relevant partnerships and their objectives.

### 18.0 Equal Opportunities

- 18.1 The Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on the licensing authority to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations, between persons with different protected characteristics. The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.
- 18.2 The licensing authority will look to discharge this duty by making arrangements where appropriate to provide information in a format that meet the requirements of those with special needs such as large type, audio information and information in foreign languages. Specific needs will be dealt with on an individual basis.

#### **19.0** Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions

- 19.1 One of the major principles underlying the Licensing Act 2003 is that the licensing functions contained within the Act should be delegated to an appropriate level so as to ensure speedy, efficient and cost effective service delivery.
- 19.2 The licensing authority will be involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and functions and has established a Licensing Committee to administer them. Appreciating the need to provide an efficient service to all parties involved in the licensing process, the Committee has delegated certain decisions and functions and has established a number of Sub-Committees to deal with those matters.
- 19.3 In addition, it is expected that many of the decisions and functions will be largely administrative with no perceived areas of contention and, in the interests of efficiency and effectiveness these are delegated to officers. Attached at Appendix A to this licensing policy is a table of delegated functions setting out the agreed delegation of decisions and functions to the Council's Licensing Committee, Sub-Committees and officers.
- 19.4 These delegations are without prejudice to officers referring an application to a Sub-Committee or the Licensing Committee if considered appropriate in the circumstances of the case.

### 20.0 Relationship with Planning

- 20.1 Planning permission, building control approval and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. Licensing committees are not bound by decisions made by a planning committee, and vice versa.
- 20.2 There is no legal basis for the licensing authority to refuse a licence application because the relevant premise does not have planning permission, or where there are conditions on the relevant planning permission.
- 20.3 There are circumstances when as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing time. Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution under planning law.

### 21.0 Temporary Event Notices

- 21.1 The Licensing Act 2003 provides for certain occasions when small scale events (for no more than 499 people at a time and lasting for no more than 168 hours) do not need a licence providing that advance notice is given to the licensing authority, police and environmental health. The police and environmental health can only object to a Temporary Event Notice if the event is likely to undermine the licensing objectives.
- 21.2 The law states that for a standard temporary event notice, at least ten working day's notice must be given but the licensing authority recommends that, wherever possible, at least two month's notice be given to hold these events, to allow it to help organisers plan their events safely. Any longer period than this may mean that organisers do not have all the details available at the time of submitting the notice, and any lesser time means that planning may be rushed and haphazard.
- 21.3 Organisers of temporary events are strongly advised to contact the licensing authority for advice at the earliest opportunity when planning events. Where necessary discussions will be held with the police to avoid any unnecessary objections being made that may arise from misunderstandings or confusion as to what is being proposed.
- 21.4 Since 25 April 2012 it has been possible for individuals to serve a very limited number of "late" temporary event notices each year, providing that these are served on all relevant parties at least five working days before the day on which the event is due to begin.
- 21.5 Of the 50 temporary event notices a personal licence holder can serve in a calendar year, no more than 10 may be "late" temporary event notices. Of the 5 temporary event notices an individual who does not hold a personal licence can serve in a calendar year, no more than 2 can be "late" temporary event notices.
- 21.6 However event organisers should be aware that a late temporary event notice can be prevented by a single objection from the police or environmental health and there is no right to a hearing in such circumstances.
- 21.7 Therefore late temporary event notices should normally only be served in exceptional circumstances, such as when an event has to be postponed and rearranged at short notice due to adverse weather conditions. The licensing authority does not expect late temporary event notices to be served simply on the basis that the event organiser has been disorganised in addressing the licensing arrangements for their event.

#### 22.0 Live Music Act 2012 and other Entertainment Licensing Deregulation

- 22.1 The Live Music Act 2012 came into force on 1<sup>st</sup> October 2012 and is designed to encourage more performances of 'live' music. The Act (as amended) removes the licensing requirements for:
  - amplified 'live' music between 8am and 11pm before audiences of no more than 500 people on premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises
  - amplified 'live' music between 8am and 11pm before audiences of no more than 500 people in workplaces not otherwise licensed under the 2003 Act (or licensed only for the provision of late night refreshment)
  - unamplified 'live' music between 8am and 11pm in all venues
  - the provision of entertainment facilities
- 22.2 Where licensable activities continue to take place on premises any licence conditions relating to 'live' music will be suspended, but it will be possible to impose new, or reinstate existing conditions following a review.
- 22.3 There was a further deregulation of entertainment licensing in June 2013 when the Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013) came into force on 27 June 2013. The effect of the order is that no authorisation is required for the following activities to the extent that they take place between 08:00-23:00 on any day:
  - a performance of a play in the presence of any audience of no more than 500 people
  - an indoor sporting event in the presence of any audience of no more than 1000 people
  - a performances of dance in the presence of any audience of no more than 500 people
- 22.4 Entertainment licensing requirements were further deregulated as a result of the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014, which came into force on 6 April 2015.
- 22.5 The 2014 Order deregulated entertainment licensing in the following ways:
  - The provision of regulated entertainment by or on behalf of local authorities, health care providers, or schools on their own defined premises became exempt from entertainment licensing between 08.00-23.00 on the same day, with no audience limit.
  - The audience limit for a performance of live amplified music in relevant alcohol licensed premises or in a workplace between 08.00-23.00 on the same day was raised from 200 to 500.
  - Local authorities, health care providers and schools are now exempt from entertainment licensing when making their own defined premises available to third parties for live and recorded music activities between 08:00-23:00 on the same day for audiences of up to 500.

- Community premises not licensed to supply alcohol are now exempt from entertainment licensing requirements for live and recorded music between 08:00-23:00 on the same day for audiences of up to 500.
- Travelling circuses are now exempt from entertainment licensing in respect of all descriptions of entertainment, except an exhibition of a film or a boxing or wrestling entertainment, where the entertainment or sport takes place between 08:00-23:00 on the same day, with no audience limit.
- Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling are now deregulated between 08:00-23:00 for audiences of up to 1000 people.
- An exhibition of film that is incidental to another activity (where that other activity is not itself a description of entertainment set out in paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act) is exempt now from licensing.
- 22.6 The exhibition of films in community premises has also been deregulated as a result of section 76 of the Deregulation Act 2015.
- 22.7 No licence is required for an exhibition of film on community premises between 08:00 and 23:00 on any day provided that:
  - the film entertainment is not provided with a view to profit;
  - the film entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people;
  - the admission of children is subject to such restrictions as are necessary to comply with the recommendation issued by the BBFC or relevant licensing authority regarding the admission of children; and
  - a person concerned in the organisation or management of the exhibition of the film has obtained the prior written consent of the management committee of the premises, or if there is no management committee, a person who has control of the premises in connection with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other undertaking, or failing that a person with a relevant property interest in the premises.

### 23.0 Sexual Entertainment Venues

- 23.1 The Council may adopt a policy in relation to sex establishments, including sexual entertainment venues under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by the Policing and Crime Act 2009. This policy may include standard conditions attached to such licences. Where there are similar conditions attached to licences under both regulatory regimes, the more onerous will apply.
- 23.2 There is an exemption under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 that allows premises to provide sexual entertainment no more than 11 times per year and no more frequently than monthly. Any concerns related to the provision of occasional sexual entertainment may still lead to a review of the relevant premises licence or club premises certificate and the imposition of conditions.
- 23.3 Any premise that wants to provide sexual entertainment under the exemption must still be authorised under the Licensing Act 2003 for the performance of dance and the playing or recorded music.

### 24.0 Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders (EMROs)

- 24.1 The power to introduce an EMRO enables a licensing authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified time period between the hours of 12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 24.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol-related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance; and other instances of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises.
- 24.3 Before introducing an EMRO the licensing authority must be satisfied that it has sufficient evidence to demonstrate that its decision is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. This requirement will be considered in the same manner as other licensing decisions, such as the determination of applications for the grant of premises licences. The licensing authority will consider evidence from partners, including responsible authorities and local Community Safety Partnerships, alongside its own evidence, to determine whether an EMRO would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 24.4 The licensing authority will normally only consider the use of EMROs as a last resort in dealing with recurring problems and will always consider the potential burden that would be imposed on premises licence holders as well as the potential benefits in terms of promoting the licensing objectives.
- 24.5 It is recognised that there are other measures that could be taken instead of making an EMRO which include:
  - introducing a special policy on cumulative impact;
  - reviewing licences of specific problem premises;
  - encouraging the creation of business-led best practice schemes in the area; and
  - using other mechanisms set out in the Secretary of State's Guidance to Licensing Authorities under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.
- 24.6 The licensing authority is not currently satisfied that it is appropriate to make any EMROs.

### 25.0 Late Night Levy

- 25.1 The late night levy is a power, conferred on licensing authorities by provision in Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. This enables licensing authorities to charge a levy to persons who are licensed to sell alcohol late at night in the authority's area, as a means of raising a contribution towards the costs of policing the late-night economy.
- 25.2 The levy is a power and the Government has recognised that some licensing authorities will not consider that it is appropriate to exercise it.
- 25.3 At the present time this licensing authority does not have a large number of premises which are licensed to sell alcohol during the late night supply period. Therefore at this stage the licensing authority does not believe that the levy will generate enough revenue to make it an appropriate option in its area.
- 25.4 The decision to introduce the levy is for the licensing authority to make. However the licensing authority will keep the need for a levy under review in consultation with the chief officer of police and police and crime commissioner ("PCC") for the police area.
- 25.5 When considering whether to introduce a levy the licensing authorities notes that any financial risk (for example lower than expected revenue) rests at a local level and this will be fully considered prior to making any decision about local implementation.
- 25.6 The licensing authority will decide whether or not it believes it has a viable proposal to introduce the levy before incurring the costs of the formal consultation process.
- 25.7 If the licensing authority decides to give further consideration to the introduction of a levy in the future, it will do so in accordance with the relevant regulations and with reference to any relevant guidance issued by the Home Office.
- 25.8 Any decision to introduce, vary or end the requirement for the levy will be made by the full Council. Other decisions in relation to the introduction and administration of the levy would be delegated to the Licensing Committee.

### 26.0 Late Night Refreshment – Local Powers to Deregulate

- 26.1 Section 71 of the Deregulation Act 2015 inserted paragraph 2A into Schedule 2 of the Licensing Act 2003 in relation to the provision of late night refreshment.
- 26.2 This amendment created a discretionary power to licensing authorities to exempt premises in certain circumstances, from the requirement to have a licence to provide late night refreshment.
- 26.3 The powers allow a relevant licensing authority to exempt the supply of late night refreshment if it takes place:
  - on or from premises which are wholly situated in a designated area;
  - on or from premises which are of a designated description; or
  - during a designated period (beginning no earlier than 23.00 and ending no later than 05.00.
- 26.4 The licensing authority does not currently consider it appropriate to exercise the discretionary powers within paragraph 2A of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003.
- 26.5 If the licensing authority was going to consider exercising the powers in the future, it would only do so having careful considered the risks to the promotion of the licensing objectives and having carried out a comprehensive consultation exercise with relevant stakeholders.

#### 27.0 Suspension of Licences and Certificates for Non-Payment of Annual Fees

- 27.1 As a result of powers introduced under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the licensing authority must suspend premises licences and club premises certificates if the holder of the relevant authorisation fails to pay their annual fee.
- 27.2 However, this does not apply immediately if the payment was not made before or at the time of the due date because of an administrative error, or because the holder disputed liability for the fee before or at the time of the due date. In either of these cases, there is a grace period of 21 days. This period will be used by the licensing authority to contact the licence or certificate holder in attempt to resolve the dispute or error. If the dispute or error is not resolved during this 21-day period, the licence or certificate will be suspended.
- 27.3 When suspending a licence of certificate a notice of suspension will be given in writing to the licence or certificate holder. The police and any other relevant responsible authorities will also be notified of the suspension at the same time.
- 27.4 A premises licence or certificate that has been suspended does not have effect to authorise licensable activities. However, it can for example be subject to a hearing or, in the case of a premises licence, an application for transfer. The licence will nevertheless only be reinstated when the outstanding fee has been paid. Formally, the debt is owed by the holder who held the licence at the time it was suspended. However, it may be more likely in practice that the new holder will actually make the payment.
- 27.5 Once payment has been received a written acknowledgement will be given to the licence/certificate holder and the suspension will be lifted. The police and any other relevant responsible authorities will be notified that the suspension has been lifted at the same time.

Matter to be dealt with	Full Committee	Sub Committee	Officers
Application for personal licence		If the police or Home Office give an objection notice	If no objection notice is given by the police or Home Office.
Decision whether to suspend or revoke a personal licence		All cases	
Application for premises licence/club premises certificate		If relevant representations are made	If no relevant representations are made or all representations made are withdrawn
Application for provisional statement		If relevant representations are made	If no relevant representations are made or all representations made are withdrawn
Application to vary premises licence/club premises certificate		If relevant representations are made	If no relevant representations are made or all representations made are withdrawn
Application to vary designated personal licence holder		If the police or Home Office give an objection notice	If no objection notice is given by the police or Home Office.
Application for the mandatory alcohol condition under the Licensing Act 2003 requiring a Designated Premises Supervisor in respect of a premises licence to be disapplied		If a police representation is made	All other cases
Decision whether to consult other responsible authorities on minor variation application			All cases

## Appendix A - Table of Delegated Functions

Determination of minor variation application		All cases
Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor		All cases
Application for transfer of premises licence	If the police or Home Office give an objection notice	If no objection notice is given by the police or Home Office.
Application for interim authority	If the police or Home Office give an objection notice	If no objection notice is given by the police or Home Office.
Application to review premises licence/club premises certificate	All cases	
Decision on whether a complaint or objection is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious etc		All cases
Decision for licensing authority to act in their capacity as a responsible authority		All cases
Acknowledgement of receipt of a temporary events notice		All cases
Determination of a police or environmental health objection to a temporary event notice	All cases	
Decision to suspend a licence or certificate for non-payment of the annual fee.		All cases

#### LICENSING COMMITTEE

12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

#### PENALTY POINTS SCHEME – UPDATE REPORT

Relevant Portfolio Holder	Councillor P J Whittaker		
Portfolio Holder Consulted	Yes		
Relevant Head of Service	Simon Wilkes – Head of		
	Worcestershire Regulatory Services		
Wards Affected	All Wards		
Ward Councillor Consulted	N/A		
Non-Key Decision			

#### 1. <u>SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS</u>

In November 2017, following a decision taken by the Licensing Committee earlier in the year, the Council introduced a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme.

This report provides an update to the Licensing Committee on the operation of the scheme to date.

#### 2. <u>RECOMMENDATIONS</u>

Members are asked to note the contents of the report.

#### 3. KEY ISSUES

#### **Financial Implications**

3.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

#### Legal Implications

3.2 Many authorities across the UK operate penalty point schemes and there have been a number of legal challenges to same. In order to avoid such challenges being successful it is necessary to have a mechanism in place to allow for appeals against the imposition of penalty points, and to ensure that any decision in respect of whether, or not, to revoke a licence, once the maximum number of permissible points has been reached, is taken at the appropriate level, based on the merits of each individual case.

#### LICENSING COMMITTEE

#### 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

Agenda Item 5

#### Service / Operational Implications

- 3.5 In November 2017 a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme was implemented by the Council.
- 3.6 This followed a decision made earlier in the year by the Licensing Committee following consultation on a proposal to introduce such a scheme.
- 3.7 The basic principle of such a scheme is that individuals that are found to have committed relatively minor offences or acts of non-compliance have a number of penalty points logged against their licensing records held by the authority.
- 3.8 If an individual accumulates a given number of penalty points, within a defined period, this triggers an automatic referral of the licence holder to a Licensing Sub-Committee where consideration is given to whether the individual remains a fit and proper person to hold the relevant licence.
- 3.9 A penalty point scheme enables officers to deal quickly and efficiently with minor compliance issues and helps to identify those that are regularly not acting in compliance with their licensing requirements so that more serious action can be considered against these individuals in a targeted and proportionate way.
- 3.10 The introduction of the penalty point scheme does not affect the Council's ability to take formal enforcement action for any offence or act of non-compliance and every case will continue to be considered on its own merits.
- 3.11 A copy of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme implemented can be seen at Appendix 1.
- 3.12 This report is now being produced for the Licensing Committee to provide an update on the operation of the scheme since it was introduced in November 2017.
- 3.13 Since the implementation of the scheme, nine penalty point notices have been issued to drivers licensed by the Council to drive hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. Only one driver has received two penalty point notices. No driver has yet reached the threshold provided in the penalty point scheme to trigger an appearance before a Licensing Sub-Committee.

#### **BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL**

#### LICENSING COMMITTEE

#### 12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

- 3.14 The instances of non-compliance that have thus far led to the issuing of penalty point notices included the following:
  - Incorrect display of taxi licence plates on a licensed vehicle
  - Smoking in a licensed vehicle
  - Failing to display a roof sign
  - Dangerous parking
  - Failing to behave in a civil and orderly manner
- 3.15 One penalty point notice has been rescinded by the Licensing and Support Services Manager following her decision to uphold an appeal against its issue.
- 3.16 Members are asked to note the content of this report.

#### 4. RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 None

#### 5. <u>APPENDICES</u>

Appendix 1 – Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme

#### AUTHOR OF REPORT

Name:	Dave Etheridge – Senior Practitioner (Licensing) Worcestershire Regulatory Services		
E Mail:	dave.etheridge@worcsregservices.gov.uk		
Tel:	(01905) 822799		

This page is intentionally left blank



#### **BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL**

### HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE PENALTY POINTS SYSTEM

The penalty points system for recording non-compliance with Hackney Carriage or Private Hire requirements will operate as follows:-

- 1. Bromsgrove District Council's Enforcement Policies will be fully considered by the enforcing officer when determining the manner in which any breach of the legislation, byelaws or the requirements of this licence conditions are dealt with. Where it is decided that the use of penalty points is appropriate they will be issued in accordance with the rate in the attached schedule.
- 2. Before penalty points are issued, there must be sufficient evidence to prove the relevant offence(s) or breach of condition(s).
- 3. Each case will be considered on its own merits.
- 4. Penalty points may be issued regardless of the geographic location in which the act of non-compliance took place.
- 5. When points are issued, the relevant proprietor, driver or operator will be sent written confirmation within five working days.
- 6. Points may be issued to the driver, proprietor and/or operator of a vehicle in accordance with the table below depending on the circumstances of the case.
- 7. Where the driver of the vehicle is also the proprietor and/or operator of the vehicle, only one set of points will be issued in respect of each offence or breach of condition identified.
- 8. There is a right of appeal to the Licensing and Support Services Manager at Worcestershire Regulatory Services against any points that are issued.

- 9. Points issued will remain "live" for a rolling period of two years from the date of issue. Points will be considered "spent" once it is more two years from the date of issue.
- 10. Any driver, proprietor or operator accumulating 12 points in a two year period will be referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for a review of whether the individual remains a fit and proper person to hold the relevant licence.
- 11. When a driver, proprietor or operator appears before a Licensing Sub-Committee, the following options are available to the Sub-Committee:
  - Take no further action
  - Issue a written warning
  - Extend the two year period for which the points remain live
  - Suspend the licence
  - Revoke the licence
  - Any other action that the Sub-Committee feels appropriate in the circumstances of the case
- 12. Any driver appearing before a Licensing Sub-Committee will have the right to make representations to the Sub-Committee and be legally represented at the hearing.
- 13. Any driver, proprietor or operator who has their licence suspended or revoked by a Licensing Sub-Committee will have the right to appeal against the decision to a Magistrates Court within 21 days unless in the interests of public safety, the Sub-Committee further resolves that the suspension or revocation should have immediate effect.
- 14. Once a Licensing Sub-Committee has considered a case involving accumulated points, the points will be treated as spent unless the Sub-Committee decides otherwise.
- 15. If the Sub-Committee decides that any points are to remain live, they must stipulate the date at which they will be considered spent.
- 16. Nothing in this penalty points system will prevent the Council from taking action under any appropriate legislation.
- 17. The penalty points scheme will be subject to review two years after implementation and as necessary thereafter.

#### SCHEDULE – TARIFF OF POINTS ISSUED FOR OFFENCES / BREACHES

	Offence (s) / Breach of condition (s)	Points applicable	Vehicle Driver	Vehicle Proprietor	Operator (PH)
1	Failing to behave in a civil and orderly manner	4	Х		
2	Failure to proceed to another hackney carriage stand on finding a hackney carriage stand full (over-ranking)	3	Х		
3	Failing to wear drivers badge so it is plainly visible	3	Х		
4	Failing to display vehicle licence plate on the outside rear of the vehicle	3	Х	X	
5	Vehicle interior in unacceptable condition	3	Х	Х	
6	Vehicle exterior in unacceptable condition	3	Х	Х	
7	Failure to provide fire extinguisher	3	Х	Х	
8	Taximeter defective of not clearly visible	4	Х	Х	
9	Failing to afford reasonable assistance with loading and unloading luggage	3	Х		
10	Failure to display table of fares	3	Х	Х	
11	Conveying more passengers in the vehicle than permitted by the licence	4	Х		
12	Leaving hackney carriage unattended on a stand	3	Х		
13	Charging more than the prescribed fare for a journey	4	Х		
14	When hired to do so, failing to attend at the appointed time and place without reasonable cause	3	Х	Х	X
15	Failing to hand in property left in a licensed vehicle by a passenger	3	Х	Х	X
16	Failing to notify the Council of motoring or other convictions within 7 days	4	Х	Х	X
17	Failing to keep appropriate records of bookings	4			X
18	Failing to notify the Council of a change of name or address	3	Х	Х	X
19	Refusing a fare without reasonable cause	3	Х		
20	Failing to report an accident to the Council within 72 hours	3	Х	Х	
21	Failing to produce insurance certificate to officer on request	4	Х	Х	
22	Failing to produce vehicle for inspection on request	4	Х	Х	
23	Failure to produce booking records upon request	4			Х
24	Causing or permitting any vehicle other than a hackney carriage to wait on a hackney carriage stand	4	Х		
25	Unnecessarily prolonging a journey without reasonable cause	4	Х		
26	Obstructing an authorised officer or constable	3	Х	Х	Х

27	Failing to comply with a requirement properly made by an authorised officer or constable	3	Х	Х	X
29	Using vehicle horn otherwise than in accordance with the rule 112 of the Highway Code.	3	X		
30	Allowing smoking in a licensing vehicle	3	Х		
31	Smoking in a licensed vehicle	3	Х		
32	Parking a vehicle in an illegal or dangerous position	3	X		

### Agenda Item 7 BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

## LICENSING COMMITTEE

12<sup>th</sup> November 2018

#### 12<sup>th</sup> NOVEMBER 2018

Licensing Act 2003 — Consideration of responses to consultation on revised Statement of Licensing Policy

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme – review of the scheme

Verbal Update – Implementation of Animal Activity Licensing Regulations

#### 18<sup>th</sup> MARCH 2019

Review of Policy on the Relevance of Convictions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers – Approval to consultation

Acceptable level of tint on windows of licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles

#### To Be Allocated To Suitable Available Dates in 2018/2019

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Penalty Points Scheme – regular update reports on the scheme to continue into 2019

Review of Policy on the Relevance of Convictions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers – Consider results of consultation

This page is intentionally left blank